STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

09-06-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017AP001024

DANE COUNTY,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

BRENNA N. WEBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM DECISION AND ORDER ENTERED ON MAY 2, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 7, THE HON. WILLIAM E. HANRAHAN, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

BRENNA N. WEBER, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

- BY: SARAH M. SCHMEISER State Bar No. 1037381

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. DID THE OFFICER HAVE A SUFFICIENT LEGAL BASIS TO REQUIRE MS. WEBER TO PERFORM FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS WHEN SHE HAD BEEN STOPPED FOR SPEEDING? TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: YES
 - A. Standard of review.
 - B. The Facts Were Not Sufficient for the Officer to Require Ms. Weber to Exit the Vehicle and Perform Field Sobriety Tests.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issue on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from the trial court's denial of defendant's motion to suppress. R.12; 23. On November 27, 2016, just after 3.a.m., Officer Schneider stopped a vehicle for speeding R.23:5. Ms. Weber, the driver of the vehicle, was traveling at about 60 m.p.h. in a 45 m.p.h. zone. Id. The officer was traveling in the opposite direction from Ms. Weber in her vehicle. R.23:6. The officer turned around, followed Ms. Weber, then stopped her for the speeding violation. Id.

The officer observed that Ms. Weber's vehicle did not swerve, did not cross the center line, and was not otherwise operated in any way that was indicative of impairment. R.23:14–15. The officer did testify at the motion hearing held in the matter that Ms. Weber was slow to stop after he activated his lights. R.23:15. After viewing the video showing the stop of Ms. Weber's vehicle obtained from his own squad car from the night of the incident, the officer admitted that Ms. Weber stopped as soon as there was a safe place on the side of the road. R.23:18. The officer further testified that Ms. Weber did not pull over in a way that was suspicious. Id.

After Ms. Weber stopped her vehicle, the officer approached, had contact with her, and identified her with her driver's license. R.23:7. The officer noted a medium odor of intoxicants and noted the time was after bar time. Id. The officer asked Ms. Weber about her

6

speed and she indicated she had been on the phone with a friend getting directions. R.23:8. Upon being questioned by the officer, Ms. Weber stated she had one beer and had just come from work at O'Grady's Irish Pub. R.23:8, 23:20. The officer did not observe any slurred speech, bloodshot eyes, fumbling, or lack of coordination. R.23:18–19. The officer returned to his squad vehicle and determined that Ms. Weber had a valid license and no outstanding warrants. R.23:21. Based on the odor of alcohol, admission to drinking one beer, and the time of night, the officer had Ms. Weber exit her vehicle to perform field sobriety tests. R.23:8–9.

Ms. Weber was ultimately ticketed for operating while intoxicated and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. R.1 and 2. Before trial, she filed a motion challenging the expansion of the scope of the stop from that for a speeding violation into an investigation for driving while impaired by alcohol. The Court held a hearing on the motion at which Officer Schneider testified, the beginning of the squad video was played, and both sides argued. R.23. Officer Schneider testified that while he had been employed by the Dane County Sheriff's Department for several years, he had been employed in the capacity of a jailer and had only been a patrol officer for approximately three months when he stopped Ms. Weber. R.23:10. After hearing the facts and arguments, the trial court discussed the caselaw around expanding the scope of a stop. R.23:28– 33. The trial court discussed several unpublished cases. In one, the fact pattern was that the time was after bar time, the defendant gave a friend a ride, there was a moderate to strong odor of intoxicants, and bloodshot or glassy eyes. R.23:29. In another, there was no odor of alcohol but there was an empty shot glass observed in the vehicle which led to further investigation. R.23:30.

The trial court then made factual findings that the officer in Ms. Weber's case indicated there was a medium odor of alcohol, that it was after bar time, that there was an admission of drinking at a bar where Ms. Weber was employed, and that Ms. Weber had been speeding. R.23:32. The trial court also referenced *Cnty. of Sauk v. Leon,* 2011 WI App 1, ¶ 20, 330 Wis. 2d 836, 794 N.W.2d 929 (unpublished but citable pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(3)) and *State v. Colstad,* 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394.

Ultimately the trial court held:

The extension of the traffic stop, the officer I think has an obligation as a police officer to resolve ambiguity. Here he said that he prolonged the stop because he wanted to resolve that ambiguity of whether or not the defendant was telling the truth, and indeed it's not illegal to drink and drive, but given the circumstances as described, the lateness of the hour, the admission

of drinking, the odor of intoxicants, and the speeding, I think the officer was privileged to inquire further and quickly resolve it. So this roadside questioning I find does not run afoul of the Constitution.

R.23:33.

Thus, the motion was denied.

After a trial on stipulated facts, reserving her right to appeal the denial of the suppression motion, Ms. Weber was convicted and timely filed her Notice of Appeal to this Court. R.17, 19, 21.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OFFICER DID NOT HAVE SUFFICIENT REASON TO EXPAND THE STOP FROM SPEEDING INTO AN OWI INVESTIGATION.

A. Standard of review.

The trial court's determination of whether undisputed facts establish reasonable suspicion presents a question of constitutional fact, subject to *de novo* review. State v. Sisk, 2001WI App 182, ¶ 7, 247 Wis. 2d 443, 634 N.W.2d 877. If an officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person is committing an offense separate from the initial one, the stop may be extended and a new investigation begun. State v. Betow, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94–95, 593 N.W. 2d 449 (Ct. App. 1999). In a case where an officer has contact with a person for an investigation into a separate issue and then investigates an OWI, the Court must determine whether the officer discovered information after the initial stop which provided reasonable suspicion that the subject was driving while under the influence of an intoxicant. State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394.

B. The Facts Were Not Sufficient for the Officer to Require Ms. Weber to Exit the Vehicle and Perform Field Sobriety Tests.

Under both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions, an investigatory detention must be supported by reasonable suspicion that a person is or was violating the law. State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App ¶ 8, *citing State v. Gammons*, 2001 WI App 36, 241 Wis.2d 296, 625 N.W. 2d. 623. Further, "[A]n investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop. The investigative methods employed should be the least intrusive means reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period of time." United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 881–82, (1975); Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 146 (1997). It is the State's burden to demonstrate that the seizure was sufficiently limited in scope and duration to satisfy the conditions of an investigative seizure. *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983).

Although a traffic stop may begin as a lawful seizure, if that seizure is prolonged beyond the time necessary to issue a citation for the traffic offense, the seizure may become unlawful. *Rodriguez v. United States*, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1612 (2015). In determining whether the prolonged detention is lawful, the Court must consider whether separate reasonable suspicion exists to justify the additional seizure.

Id. at 1615. If the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed a separate and distinct offense, the stop may be extended for the new investigation. *Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d at 94– 95. That investigation must be based upon objective and particularized factors which give rise to a reasonable belief that a crime is being committed. *Id. citing United States v. Perez*, 37 F.3d 510 (1994). The request for a driver to perform field sobriety tests must be separately justified by articulable facts showing a reasonable basis for the request, as it is a greater invasion of liberty than the initial detention. *Colstad* 2003 WI App ¶ 19.

When an officer is not aware of bad driving, then other factors suggesting impairment must be more substantial. *Cnty. of Sauk v. Leon*, 2011 WI App 1, ¶ 20, 330 Wis. 2d 836, 794 N.W.2d 929 (unpublished but citable pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(3)). In the *Leon* case, the officer noted the odor of intoxicants, and the driver admitted to drinking a beer at dinner. *Id.* ¶ 28 Here, Deputy Schneider also noticed an odor of intoxicants. Moreover, similar to the defendant in *Leon*, Ms. Weber confirmed that she had in fact consumed alcohol. The defendant in *Leon* admitted to having only one drink, as did Ms. Weber. The *Leon* court concluded: "Without more, an admission of having consumed one beer with an evening meal, together with an

odor of unspecified intensity, are not sufficient 'building blocks' representing specific and articulable facts supporting reasonable suspicion." *Id.* The trial court distinguished *Leon* by stating that there had been no observations of driving in that case. R.23:32. The trial further stated that there was no admission in *Leon*, apparently referring to an admission of drinking. R.23:32.

However, as noted above, the driver in *Leon* did admit to consuming a beer. And while the officer in this matter did observe Ms. Weber's driving, none of those observations raise an inference that Ms. Weber was intoxicated. In fact, just the opposite is true.

Ms. Weber was speeding, but that did not indicate alcohol impairment. R.23:15. She did not swerve, deviate from her lane, or have any issues with control of her vehicle. Id. She pulled over properly when there was a safe place to do so. R.23:17– 18. Consequently, the officer's observations of Ms. Weber's driving behavior do not raise any inference of alcohol impairment. Other than the speeding ticket for which she was pulled over, no problematic driving issues of any kind were observed.

Upon making contact with Ms. Weber, the officer observed a moderate odor of alcohol. Ms. Weber explained that she worked at an Irish Pub, that she had just gotten off work, and that she had one beer while at work. R.23:8, 20– 21. To the extent that any concern with

possible alcohol impairment was raised by the moderate odor of alcohol, Ms. Weber's explanation could only dispel the concern. The officer is not required to accept Ms. Weber's explanation as the only possibility. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App ¶21. However, neither the officer nor the State in its argument indicated any specific reason to believe that Ms. Weber was not truthful.

The trial court did not find Ms. Weber's statement to be untruthful. While the officer is not required to dispel every possible innocent explanation, there is no reason to ignore or doubt the reasonable responses given by Ms. Weber. While some individuals may not be completely forthcoming with law enforcement about alcohol consumption, the officer must point to sufficient articulable facts which rise to the level of a reason to believe Ms. Weber was impaired by alcohol. *Colstad*, 2003 WI App ¶ 19. In *Colstad*, the driver had been involved in a fatal accident and the police were investigating to determine the cause. *Id*. Here, there was no accident to investigate, and there was only a speeding violation.

Further, the officer observed that Ms. Weber did not have slurred speech, she did not have bloodshot eyes, and she did not fumble or have any lack of coordination. R.23:18–19. These are common signs that police note in investigations into impaired operation to support the inference that an individual is operating while under the influence. Working at an Irish Pub which serves alcohol and consuming a beer is a reasonable explanation for the moderate odor of alcohol the officer noted. No specific, articulable fact in this case leads to a reasonable suspicion that Ms. Weber was impaired by alcohol while driving. As noted by the trial court, it is not illegal to consume alcohol and drive. R.23:33. What is illegal is to be impaired while driving. Because that was the violation the officer extended the stop to investigate, there must be articulable facts to support a suspicion of impaired driving.

The officer and the State, as well as the trial court in its ruling, relied on the facts that it was late at night, that Ms. Weber was speeding, that there was an odor of alcohol, and that Ms. Weber stated she consumed one beer. Ms. Weber's statements that she served alcohol and drank one beer at work simply explain the odor of alcohol. They do not raise an inference of impairment.

Additionally, the officer's questions of Ms. Weber dispelled any potential concerns. Ms. Weber had reason to be out late at night, as she had been working. Nor does her speeding indicate she was impaired. The officer did not testify that speeding is an indicator of alcohol impairment, whether it occurs late at night or not. There must be additional facts which can be pointed to which raise a reasonable inference of impaired driving. Working at a bar and having consumed one beer are not sufficient to believe Ms. Weber may have been driving while impaired. At most, the officer had a hunch or unsupported suspicion that Ms. Weber had consumed more alcohol than she admitted. Yet a hunch cannot establish the requisite reasonable suspicion of a crime. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). Indeed, the officer had no facts to support that hunch – the facts actually weighed against that hunch. Specifically, the driving behavior when pulling over safely and appropriately, as well as the lack of any indicators of alcohol impairment such as slurred speech, bloodshot and glassy eyes, or fumbling with the driver's license indicate there was no alcohol impairment.

Based on the facts observed by the officer, it was not reasonable to conclude that Ms. Weber was likely operating while impaired. A hunch or unsupported suspicion on the part of the officer is not sufficient. In order to expand the stop for speeding into a stop for impaired driving, the officer must be able to point to additional articulable facts which give rise to a reasonable belief that that particular crime is being committed. *Colstad, supra*. Such facts do not exist in this case. Thus, the appellant's motion to suppress should have been granted.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated in this brief, the judgment of the trial court should be reversed, and this action be remanded to that court, with directions that the court grant the defendant-appellant's motion to suppress.