# **RECEIVED** 11-16-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 17AP1024

DANE COUNTY,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

BRENNA N WEBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 7, THE HONORABLE William Hanrahan, PRESIDING

> William L. Brown Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1085130

> 215 South Hamilton Street Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000 Madison, WI 53703 Telephone: (608)266-4211

#

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the officer have sufficient legal basis to require the defendant to perform field sobriety tests given the fact she was speeding, smelled like alcohol, was coming from a bar, and driving during "bar time."

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: Yes.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the Plaintiff-Respondent, the County exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)2.<sup>1</sup> The County will supplement the statement of the facts and case as appropriate in its argument.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless indicated otherwise, all citations to Wisconsin Statutes refer to the 2015-16 edition.

#### ARGUMENT

Weber argues the police officer did not have reasonable suspicion to extend his valid traffic stop (a fact not challenged in this appeal) into an OWI investigation. Weber's analysis of this record is simply wrong. The case law clearly supports that the officer acted well within the bounds of the Constitution and applicable case law when he extended his traffic stop into an investigation that Weber was operating under the influence of alcohol.

#### A. Standard of Review

The Defendant's recitation of the applicable standard of review is accurate. The trial court's determinations are subject to a *de novo* review in this matter. *State v. Sisk*, 2001 WI App 182, p.7, 247 Wis. 2d 443, 634 N.W.2d 877.

## B. The Circuit Court properly denied Weber's Motion to Suppress

1. The touchstone of a Fourth Amendment claim is reasonableness.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, protect "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. This Court has generally conformed its "interpretation of Article I, Section 11 and its attendant protections with the law developed by the United States Supreme Court under the Fourth Amendment." See State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 13, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516.

"The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. The Fourth Amendment does not proscribe all state-initiated searches and seizures; it merely proscribes those which are unreasonable." *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 29, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120 (citations omitted). While a warrantless search is presumptively unreasonable, a court will uphold the search if it falls within an exception to the warrant requirement. *Id.* ¶ 30.

2. Investigatory stops based on reasonable suspicion.

An officer may lawfully stop an individual if, based upon the officer's experience, he or she reasonably suspects that criminal activity may be afoot. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392

U.S. 1, 30 (1968); see also Wis. Stat. § 968.24. An officer must base his or her reasonable suspicion upon "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." Terry, 392 U.S. at 21-22. An officer need not rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating an investigatory stop. State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 21, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729.

The ultimate constitutional standard for an investigative stop is reasonableness under the totality of the circumstances known to the officer. State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 23, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. Thus, to determine whether reasonable suspicion supports a stop, this Court examines the totality of the circumstances surrounding the stop. Id. ¶ 22. A reviewing court must "examine the facts leading up to the stop to determine whether these historical facts, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to reasonable suspicion." Young, 294 Wis. 2d. 98, ¶ 58.

3. Prolonging an investigatory stop.

An officer may not unreasonably prolong a seizure, including an investigatory stop, any longer than necessary

to satisfy the original concern that prompted the stop. See State v. Arias, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 38, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748. But an officer may expand the scope of an investigatory stop and extend the time longer than otherwise needed to complete the original stop if additional suspicious information comes to the officer's attention. State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶ 35, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124. The additional information must give "rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place . . . "State v. Betow, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999).

4. Extension of traffic stops for field sobriety tests.

An officer may extend an investigatory stop for the purpose of conducting field sobriety tests based on reasonable suspicion that the driver was operating under the influence. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 21, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. The legality of the extension of the traffic stop "turns on the presence of factors which, in the aggregate, amount to reasonable suspicion that [the driver] committed a crime the investigation of

which would be furthered by the [driver]'s performance of field sobriety tests." Hogan, 364 Wis. 2d 167, ¶ 37.

What constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience. Id., ¶8. Courts look to the totality of the circumstances when determining whether reasonable suspicion existed. State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). Reasonable suspicion is evaluated under an objective test. Id. at 55-56. Although an inchoate, unparticularized suspicion or hunch will not suffice, id. at 56, when an officer observes lawful but suspicious conduct he or she has the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry if a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn. Id. at 60.

When reviewing a circuit court's decision on a motion to suppress, an appellate court accepts the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Drew*, 2007 WI App 213, ¶11, 305 Wis. 2d 641, 740 N.W.2d 404. The application of constitutional principles to those

facts presents a question of law that is reviewed de novo. Id.

5. The law applied to the present case

In the present case, the officer was not acting on a mere hunch or unparticularized facts. He was acting on five clearly articulated facts.

1. Weber was speeding (R:21:5)

2. Weber smelled of alcohol (R:21:7)

3. Weber admitted she had consumed alcohol (R:21:8)

4. Weber was coming from a bar (R:21:8)

5. Weber was stopped at "bar time" (R:21:7)

All of these points, absent the fifth point, were discovered by the officer following the traffic stop. These points raised a suspicion and that officer chose to investigate. (R:21:8). The law supports this decision. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394.

#### CONCLUSION

It is difficult to imagine a more clear case of "reasonable suspicion" being raised during a traffic stop. The defendant was speeding. The defendant smelled of alcohol. The defendant admitted to drinking. The defendant admitted that she was coming from a bar. The defendant was pulled over at bar time. The defense points to no case to support their position. That failure is without doubt not because of lack of diligence by counsel. That failure is because there is no case. There is no law to support the defense position that officers must believe everything a defendant says and, essentially, require a full confession of criminal behavior to meet the defense's skewed interpretation of the reasonable suspicion standard.

Dane County urges the Court to affirm the Circuit Court's decision.

William L. Brown Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1085130

#### CERTIFICATION

I certify that this brief conforms to the rules contained in sec. 809.19(8)(b) and (c) for a brief produced using the following font:

> Monospaced font: 10 characters per inch; double spaced; 1.5 inch margin on left side and 1 inch margins on the other 3 sides. The length of this brief is 7 pages.